

Dear Florian,

Thank you very much for the editorial handling and your additional comments!

We agree that there is good reason to separate instantaneous from finite strain ellipsoids, if the rocks record information about it. The mylonitic pegmatites show a foliation and stretching lineation, characterized by large fragmented magmatic tourmaline and feldspar porphyroclasts and alternating quartz-, albite- and mica-rich layers. The plane normal to the sample-scale foliation and stretching lineation are interpreted to indicate the principal axes of the finite strain ellipsoid Z and X, respectively (as stated in the revised manuscript beginning of chapter 4 p. 6, line 9, 10). The foliation can be deflected around larger porphyroclasts. In rare cases, strain shadows are asymmetric (Fig. 4) and few shear bands are present (Fig. 12 a, b). The scale that we are addressing when we discuss the development of the microstructure is the sample scale. We do not intend to discuss the relative contributions of pure shear / simple shear / co-axial / non-coaxial deformation or any kinematics on a larger scale, which is beyond the scope of this study. We changed our wording throughout the manuscript and refer to the observed sample-scale foliation and stretching lineation, as this is the objective observation.

In the submitted final manuscript we made the following changes:

At the beginning of chapter 4 we rephrased to: "The plane normal to the observed foliation and the stretching lineation on sample-scale are interpreted to represent the principal axes of the finite strain ellipsoid Z and X, respectively, which are indicated in micrographs."

In the captions to Fig. 2b, Fig. 5a, b, Fig. 13 we now also refer to the observed stretching lineation / foliation (as opposed to referring to a "shortening direction", which we used in the sense of the plane normal to the observed foliation on sample scale, but we understand that this wording is misleading).

We omitted p9, l2-3. ("The porosities parallel to the short axes of grains, the elongate shape and the zoning indicate that grains grew at boundaries perpendicular to the stretching lineation".)

A few additions to the specific comments of Ruedigers review:

21) Fig. 13: "Preferred growth parallel to stretching lineation" Why would it grow parallel to the finite stretching direction - unless the pure shear p.d. contribution is very large shouldn't it grow parallel to the extending ISA and eventually rotate? All figures, where a shear sense is available but not provided, should have nice arrows indicating the shear sense.

It is true that a grain would not necessarily grow parallel to the finite stretching direction, but likely that it grows parallel to the extending ISA. In our samples the long axis of most matrix grains is within the foliation. Whether any rotation relative to a microstructure on sample scale or larger scale was involved is not recorded.

In Fig. 13 we did not refer to "preferred growth parallel to the stretching lineation" therefore we assumed that Ruediger was referring to Fig. 14, where we rephrased that statement accordingly. As indeed the phrase "preferred" might have been misleading (see also point 46) we rephrased this throughout the revised manuscript.

The microstructures shown in the SE-images of Fig. 13 do not indicate a shear sense.

30) p7, l2: LAB parallel to shortening direction: where is the shortening direction?

We rephrased that sentence in the revised manuscript to:

“Low-angle boundaries are typically observed oriented at high angle to the stretching lineation, indicating that they represent healed cracks associated with a slight misorientation rather than indicating subgrains (Fig. 8a).”

46) p11. l27: growth parallel to the stretching lineation: While this does not make a lot of sense for non-coaxial p.d. (see comment 2), why preferred growth? Preferred by what? Crystallography? Where should the “dilation” come from? Anything tested on that? What is the CPO of the most elongated grains, or which crystal direction is parallel to the maximum grain elongation direction?

The paragraph 5.5 has been rewritten in the revised manuscript, such that the sentence, Ruediger was referring to in the original manuscript, is not present anymore.

The phrase “preferred” might have been misleading (see also point 21) and we rephrased this throughout the revised manuscript. We did not refer to a crystallographic preferred growth but formation of growth rims causing a SPO (not CPO) with the long axes of grains within the foliation plane. The observation is: The long axes of grains is within the foliation plane. There is no preferred crystallographic orientation of grains with high aspect ratio (see also comments to points 21 and 28).

To the comments on “extension / dilation” we answered at point 28 the following: During dissolution-precipitation creep, boundaries at high angle to the extensional direction are “sites”, where new material is precipitated for example in veins or strain shadows, causing dilation/extension in this specific direction. Throughout the revised manuscript, we used the term “strain shadow” to refer to these areas.

We hope that our manuscript is now acceptable for publication in Solid Earth.

Thank you and with best regards,

Felix Hentschel

1 Deformation of feldspar at greenschist facies conditions – the record of 2 mylonitic pegmatites from the Pfunderer Mountains, Eastern Alps

3
4 Felix Hentschel, Claudia A. Trepmann, Emilie Janots
5

6 Abstract

7 Deformation microstructures of albitic plagioclase and K-feldspar were investigated in
8 mylonitic pegmatites from the Austroalpine basement south of the western Tauern Window by
9 polarized light microscopy, electron microscopy and electron backscatter diffraction to evaluate
10 ~~the rheologically dominant~~ feldspar deformation mechanisms at greenschist facies conditions.

Commented [F1]: Point 1, review #2

11 The main mylonitic characteristics are alternating almost monophase quartz and albite layers,
12 surrounding porphyroclasts of deformed feldspar and tourmaline. The dominant deformation
13 microstructures of K-feldspar porphyroclasts are intragranular fractures ~~parallel to the main~~
14 ~~shortening direction indicated by the foliation at high angle to the stretching lineation.~~ The
15 fractures are healed or sealed by polyphase aggregates of albite, K-feldspar, quartz and mica,
16 which also occur along intragranular fractures of tourmaline and strain shadows around other
17 porphyroclasts. ~~Polyphase~~ ~~These polyphase~~ aggregates ~~at sites of dilation~~ indicate dissolution-
18 precipitation creep. K-feldspar porphyroclasts are partly replaced by albite characterized by a
19 ~~sawtooth shaped cusped~~ interface. ~~This replacement is interpreted to be take place~~ by interface-
20 coupled dissolution-precipitation driven by a solubility difference between K-feldspar and

21 ~~albite and is not controlled by strain. In contrast, albite.~~ Albite porphyroclasts are replaced at
22 ~~sites of shortening boundaries parallel to the foliation~~ by fine-grained monophase albite
23 aggregates of small strain-free new grains mixed with deformed fragments. Dislocation glide
24 is indicated by bent, ~~linked~~ and twinned albite. ~~No porphyroclasts with internal misorientation.~~
25 An indication of effective dislocation climb with dynamic recovery, for example by the
26 presence of subgrains, ~~a crystallographic preferred orientation or sutured grain boundaries was~~
27 ~~observed is systematically missing.~~ We interpret the grain size reduction of albite ~~at sites of~~

Commented [F2]: Point 1, review#1

Commented [F3]: Point 3, review#1

28 ~~shortening~~ to be the result of coupled ~~fracturing~~, dislocation glide and fracturing (low-
29 temperature plasticity). Subsequent growth is by a combination of strain-induced grain
30 boundary migration, and formation of growth rims resulting in an aspect ratio of albite with the
31 long axis within the foliation. This strain-induced replacement by nucleation ~~and growth~~
32 ~~leads~~, (associated dislocation glide and microfracturing) and subsequent growth is suggested to
33 result in the observed monophasic albite layers, probably together with granular flow, ~~to the~~
34 ~~monophasic albite layers~~. The associated quartz layers ~~in contrast~~, show characteristics of
35 dislocation creep by the presence of subgrains, undulatory extinction and sutured grain
36 boundaries. ~~We identified two endmember matrix microstructures that correlate with strain.~~
37 ~~Samples with lower strain are characterized by layers of: (i) alternating layers of a few hundreds~~
38 ~~of μm width, with coarse-grained quartz and layers with isometric, fine-grained feldspar.~~
39 ~~Higher strained samples are characterized by narrow alternating layers of (in average 15 μm in~~
40 ~~diameter) and coarse-grained quartz (a few hundreds of μm in diameter), representing lower~~
41 ~~strain compared to (ii) alternating thin layers of some tens of μm width composed of fine-~~
42 ~~grained quartz (< 20 μm in diameter) and coarse elongate albite grains elongated parallel to~~
43 ~~(long axis a few tens of μm) defining the stretching lineation/foliation, respectively. These Our~~
44 observations indicate that grain size reduction by strain-induced replacement of albite,
45 (associated dislocation glide and microfracturing) followed by growth and granular flow
46 ~~assisted by fracturing and dissolution-precipitation together simultaneous~~ with dislocation creep
47 of quartz are ~~rheologically dominant~~ playing the dominating role in formation of the mylonitic
48 microstructure.

Commented [F4]: Point 7, review #2

50 1. Introduction

51 Assessment of the rheological behaviour of the continental crust requires an understanding of
52 grain-scale deformation mechanisms of the main rock-forming minerals at not directly
53 accessible depths. In deep parts of seismically active shear zones (10-20 km) the rheological

54 behaviour is controlled by the deformation of granitoid rocks, mainly composed of feldspar and
55 quartz, at greenschist facies conditions. A vast number of experimental studies exist to analyse
56 the deformation mechanisms and to derive flow laws for high-temperature creep of feldspar
57 (e.g. Gleason and Tullis, 1993; Kruse and Stünitz, 1999; McLaren and Pryer, 2001; Stünitz et
58 al., 2003; Rybacki and Dresen, 2004) and quartz (e.g., Jaoul et al., 1984; Patterson and Luan,
59 1990; Gleason and Tullis, 1993; Hirth et al., 2001). However, the extrapolation of
60 experimentally deduced flow laws for monomineralic material to the flow behaviour of
61 polymineralic rocks at geologically reasonable conditions is problematic (e.g., Pfiffner and
62 Ramsay, 1982; Tullis and Tullis, 1986; Paterson, 1987; Jordan, 1988). Also, the application of
63 flow laws to model the rheological properties of the continental lithosphere (e.g. Brace and
64 Kohlstedt, 1980; Kohlstedt et al., 1995) is a matter of debate (e.g., Rutter and Brodie, 1991;
65 Burov, 2007; Bürgmann and Dresen, 2008; Burov, 2011). Uncertainties in models for the
66 rheological properties of the continental lithosphere is partly due to a poor knowledge of the
67 deformation mechanisms actually proceeding at depth as well as the interplay between multiple
68 factors influencing rock strength such as stress variations, fluid content, and metamorphic
69 reactions. The comparison of experimental results with microstructural and mineralogical
70 observations of exhumed metamorphic granitoid rocks, which record the grain-scale
71 mechanical and chemical transformations at depths, is therefore indispensable.

72 The extrapolation of experimental flow laws for dislocation creep of quartz to natural conditions
73 is found to agree well to natural observations (e.g., Stöckhert et al., 1999, Hirth et al., 2001,
74 Stipp et al., 2002). However, there are large discrepancies in experimental and natural
75 observations on the most abundant mineral of the continental crust, feldspar. Deformation
76 experiments suggest that dislocation creep of feldspar in high strain shear zones is dominant
77 only at high temperatures above about 900°C (e.g., Rybacki and Dresen, 2004). In contrast,
78 ductile deformation with grain-size reduction and formation of new feldspar grains, commonly
79 assumed to imply dislocation creep, is observed already at greenschist facies conditions (Voll,

80 1976; Tullis, 1983; Gapais, 1989; Stünitz, 1993; Prior and Wheeler, 1999; Ishii et al., 2007).

81 This discrepancy is partly due to the unclear and strongly varying contribution of brittle,

82 dissolution-precipitation and crystal-plastic processes (e.g., Tullis and Yund, 1987; Fitz Gerald

83 and Stünitz, 1993; Stünitz and Fitz Gerald, 1993; Tullis et al., 1996; Prior and Wheeler, 1999;

84 Kruse and Stünitz, 2001; Ree et al., 2005; Menegon et al., 2006, 2008; Stünitz et al., 2003;

85 Mehl and Hirth, 2008; Sinha, et al., 2010; Kilian et al., 2011; Brander et al., 2012; Mukai et al.,

86 2014; Eberlei et al., 2014). Such a creep behaviour governed by the interaction of different

87 deformation mechanisms and chemical reactions in the presence of fluids is especially difficult

88 to assess in experimental approaches. This is partly because experiments have to be performed

89 at high temperatures to realize feasible strain rates, which, however, affects phase assemblages

90 and material properties, for example by partial melting. Therefore, activated mechanisms may

91 strongly differ from those at natural strain rates and greenschist facies conditions. Tullis and

92 Yund (1987) found in their deformation experiments at strain rates of 10^{-4} s^{-1} to 10^{-6} s^{-1} effective

93 dislocation climb with subgrain formation and subgrain rotation only effective at temperatures

94 $>900^\circ\text{C}$. They concluded that optically visible subgrains in feldspar from low-grade rocks

95 should not directly be assumed to arise from crystal plasticity but may arise from cataclasis and

96 subsequent healing. Dislocation climb necessary for dynamic recovery and recrystallization

97 requires intracrystalline diffusion. At temperatures $<550^\circ\text{C}$, the NaSi \leftrightarrow CaAl interdiffusion

98 rates for plagioclase are very low (Yund, 1986; Korolyuk and Lepezin, 2009). In the presence

99 of water, the diffusion coefficient has been interpreted to be higher (Yund, 1986), which was

100 suggested to account for the weakening observed in experiments where fluid is present (e.g.

101 Rybacki and Dresen, 2004). TEM studies also show that sufficient dislocation climb to produce

102 subgrains is effective only at temperatures from the middle amphibolite upward (e.g. White,

103 1975; Stünitz et al., 2003). However, whether anThe experiments by Tullis and Yund (1985)

104 show that grain boundaries may migrate into areas of higher dislocation density introduced by

105 microfracturing driven by the reduction in strain energy (Tullis and Yund, 1987) at conditions.

106 ~~at which recovery is not active. However, whether~~ extrapolation to natural conditions is valid
107 can only be evaluated by a comparison to natural microstructures.

Commented [F5]: Points 34-36, review #2

108 To analyse the deformation behaviour of feldspar at greenschist facies conditions, we use in
109 this study the record of mylonitic pegmatites of the Austroalpine basement south of the western
110 Tauern Window and north of the Periadriatic line (Fig. 1). They show a wide range of feldspar
111 deformation microstructures and are compositionally and mineralogically relatively simple, as
112 they are characterized by a Ca-poor bulk-rock composition (Stöckhert, 1987). ~~We distinguish
113 specific feldspar microstructures that represent the replacement of large deformed feldspar
114 porphyroclasts in mylonitic pegmatites driven by stored strain energy and chemical
115 disequilibrium and which in combination with fracturing, dislocation glide, grain boundary
116 migration and dissolution-precipitation creep form specific types of feldspar-quartz matrix
117 microstructures. The aim is to detect specific microstructures that can be related to processes
118 that govern the rheological behaviour of the rocks. The goal of this study is to correlate
119 characteristic microstructures to specific processes responsible for their formation and to
120 discuss the rheological behaviour of the rocks based on our findings.~~

Commented [F6]: point 25, review#2

Commented [F7]: Point 1, review#2

122 **2. Geological ~~Setting~~ and ~~Sampling~~**

123 The pegmatites occur within high-grade polymetamorphic upper Austroalpine basement rocks
124 located between the western Tauern window in the north and the Deferegger-Antholz-Valser
125 (DAV) shear zone in the south (Fig. 1; ~~e.g.~~, Hoffmann et al., 1983; Stöckhert, 1987; Stöckhert
126 et al., 1999; Mancktelow et al., 2001; Schmid et al., 2004; Müller et al., 2000). Pegmatite
127 crystallization age is generally assumed to be Permian (262 ± 7 Ma, Borsi et al. 1980) consistent
128 with other pegmatite occurrences in the Austroalpine basement (e.g., Habler et al., 2009; Thöni
129 and Miller, 2009). The pegmatites are characterized by a Ca-poor composition originated from
130 water-rich anatectic melts (Stöckhert, 1987, Schuster ~~&~~ Stüwe, 2008).

Commented [F8]: Point 4, review#1

131 The intrusion of the Rensen and Rieserferner tonalites and related magmatic dikes into the
132 Austroalpine basement rocks took place at ca. 30 Ma (Borsi et al., 1978; 1979; Steenken et al.,
133 2000). ~~The DAV shear zone was active at about the same time~~The amount of uplift and erosion
134 since the intrusion of these magmatic bodies is increasing from about 10 km in an eastern area
135 of the Rieserferner to about 15 to 25 km in the Rensen area in the west (Trepmann et al., 2004).
136 The main activity of the DAV shear zone was at about the same time as the magmatic intrusions
137 and is characterized by an oblique strike slip movement with some tens of kilometres of
138 horizontal component (sinistral sense of shear) and a few kilometres of vertical component,
139 where the northern part of the Austroalpine basement is uplifted relative to the southern part
140 (Borsi et al., 1978; Kleinschrodt, 1987; Schulz, 1989; Ratschbacher et al., 1991; Stöckhert et
141 al., 1999; Mancktelow et al., 2001). It is accompanied by smaller sinistral shear zones to the
142 north, some of which were already active in the Eocene (Mancktelow et al., 2001). The DAV
143 shear zone is viewed as part of the Southern limit of Alpine Metamorphism (SAM) as defined
144 by Hoinkes et al. (1999). To the north of the DAV shear zone, tertiary ages for several mineral
145 systems are widespread (Mancktelow et al., 2001; Schulz et al., 2008) and the metamorphic
146 conditions are constrained to 450 ± 50 °C and pressures of about 0.7 GPa by phase relations in
147 the metapelitic Austroalpine basement rocks (Stöckhert 1982; 1987; Schulz et al., 2008; unpubl.
148 data). ~~Additionally, the northern part shows an increase in exhumation depth towards the west~~
149 ~~(Trepmann et al., 2004).~~ South to the DAV shear zone, the Austroalpine basement rocks have
150 been solely affected by minor metamorphism associated with brittle deformation, in accord
151 with no resetting of the Rb/Sr biotite Permian ages of 288-299 Ma (Borsi et al., 1978; Stöckhert,
152 1982; Kleinschrodt, 1987; Schulz, 1994).

153 The association of the deformation microstructures recorded by the pegmatites ~~with the~~with the
154 Alpine history is discussed controversially (e.g., Mancktelow et al., 2001; Schulz et al., 2008).
155 Stöckhert (1982, 1984, 1987) proposed that the annealed quartz and feldspar microstructures in
156 the mylonitic pegmatites correlate to an early Alpine deformation stage at metamorphic

157 temperatures of 450 ± 50 °C, pressures of about 0.7 GPa and at about 100 Ma (white mica K-Ar
158 data, Stöckhert, 1984). This age corresponds to the Eoalpine (Cretaceous) tectonometamorphic
159 event recorded from other units of the Eastern Austroalpine basement (e.g. Thöni and Miller,
160 1996; Habler et al., 2009). A later (Oligocene) deformation stage at 300 to 350°C was proposed
161 by heterogeneous high-stress quartz microstructures in quartz-rich lithologies of Austroalpine
162 basement rocks related to the movement along the DAV shear zone (Stöckhert, 1982, 1984;
163 Kleinschrodt, 1987; Stöckhert et al., 1999). Mancktelow et al. (2001), however, argued, based
164 on microstructural and kinematic studies, that the deformation microstructure of feldspar could
165 also be Paleogene in age and they find no clear distinction between separate low- and high-T
166 events.

Commented [F9]: Point 6, review#1

167 We sampled about 100 pegmatites in three field campaigns in 2015 and 2016. Their appearance
168 varies mostly between m- to cm-sized veins or lenses, and occasionally km-sized bodies occur
169 (Stöckhert, 1987, Hofmann et al., 1983). In a few cases a mineralogical-mineral zoning is
170 present. Pegmatites Deformed pegmatites, in veins or layers, have a foliation, which is parallel
171 to that of the host gneisses. The largest pegmatite bodies appear macroscopically undeformed.

Commented [F10]: Point 7, review#1

Commented [F11]: Point 8, review#1

172 We selected pegmatites with a pronounced foliation and stretching lineation (Fig. 2a: Appendix
173 1, Table 1). There is no apparent systematic variation in strain with distance to the DAV shear
174 zone, yet the distribution of different matrix microstructures, as described and discussed in
175 sections 4.4. and 5.5., is different from west to east (Fig. 1).

Commented [F12]: point 17, review#2

176

177 3. Methods

178 Samples were cut perpendicular to the foliation and parallel to the stretching lineation. Thin
179 sections of ~30 µm thickness were first polished mechanically and then chemo-mechanically
180 in a colloidal silica-solution. For scanning electron microscopy (SEM) thin sections were coated
181 with a thin layer (~5 nm) of carbon. Electron microscopic investigations were performed on a
182 Hitachi SU5000 with a field emission gun. Semi-quantitative chemical measurements by

183 energy dispersive spectroscopy (EDS, AzTec, Oxford instruments) were acquired using an
184 accelerating voltage of 20 kV and a working distance of 10 mm. Cathodoluminescence (CL)
185 imaging using a Gatan MiniCL detector was performed at 5 kV and 10 mm working distance.
186 Crystallographic orientations were analysed using a HKL NordlysNano high-sensitivity
187 Electron Backscatter Diffraction (EBSD) detector (Oxford Instruments). The EBSD signals
188 were acquired using the AzTec analysis software (Oxford instruments). We used a sample
189 holder pre-tilted at 70° with respect to the electron beam, an accelerating voltage of 20 kV and
190 a working distance of 20–25 mm. The step size for automatic mapping was in the range of 1–
191 2 μm, dependent of the required resolution, grain size and size of the area measured.

192 ~~Pole figures were calculated using HKL Channel 5 software (Oxford instruments) and the~~
193 ~~MTEX software (Bachmann et al., 2010) from the raw EBSD output. The latter software was~~
194 ~~used to colour EBSD maps and for misorientation analysis. For grain reconstruction a~~
195 ~~thresholding value of 10° was used.~~ EBSD data were analysed with the MTEX toolbox for
196 Matlab, developed by Ralf Hielscher (<https://mtex-toolbox.github.io/>; e.g. Bachmann et al.,
197 2010). Small non-indexed pixels were filled during data smoothing by a half-quadratic filter
198 (Bergmann et al., 2015). For grain reconstruction a thresholding value of 10° was used. For
199 grain reconstruction, Dauphiné twin boundaries in quartz are neglected by merging grains along
200 boundaries characterized by a misorientation angle of 60° and a [0001] rotation axis. Evaluating
201 albite grain boundaries in full misorientation space (Krakow et al., 2017) revealed that almost
202 all twins correspond to the albite law and some to the pericline law. For grain reconstruction of
203 albite, grains were merged along the corresponding twin boundaries. Evaluating mean grain
204 orientations neglecting the twin orientations requires the use of a higher symmetry, which
205 contains the symmetry element responsible for twinning, which is the point group 121 for albite
206 and 622 for quartz. The mean orientation of the “higher symmetry” grain is the modal
207 orientation of the “lower symmetry” grain. Using the higher symmetry yields the same grain
208 reconstruction result as merging along twin boundaries. Grain size analysis was by area

209 ~~normalization excluding border grains. The mean and median of the area distribution are given~~
210 ~~in histograms. The aspect ratio and the trend of the grain long axis were calculated from an~~
211 ~~area-equivalent best-fit ellipse. Pole figures were calculated either from the de-noised EBSD-~~
212 ~~data (scatter plots) or from orientation distribution functions (ODFs). ODFs were calculated~~
213 ~~from the grain mean orientation or from every pixel. For the calculation a “de la Vallée-~~
214 ~~Poussin” kernel was used (<https://mtex-toolbox.github.io/>; e.g. Bachmann et al., 2010). Kernel~~
215 ~~width was estimated with the Kullback–Leibler crossvalidation function of MTEX~~
216 ~~(<https://mtex-toolbox.github.io/>; e.g. Bachmann et al., 2010). Pole figure densities (pfJ; L2-~~
217 ~~norm of the pole figures) and texture index (TI, L2-norm of the ODF) are used to characterize~~
218 ~~texture strength (Mainprice et al., 2015).~~

219 ~~For qualitative comparison, we choose to display poles to the (100), (010) and (001) planes in~~
220 ~~upper hemisphere pole figures for albite.~~ The internal misorientation within grains is dependent

221 on the density of geometrically necessary dislocations and thus ~~is commonly used as~~ a measure
222 of ~~the~~ crystal-plastic strain (e.g. [Nicolas and Poirier, 1976](#); [Poirier, 1985](#); [Wheeler et al., 2009](#)).

223 To compare the intragranular misorientation between grains, we used the grain kernel average
224 misorientation (gKAM) ([Kilian, 2017](#)), which can be computed in MTEX. The kernel average
225 misorientation is the misorientation angle averaged over a certain kernel width for every
226 measured point. We used a kernel size of 24 pixels (3rd order neighbours) and ignored
227 misorientation angles above 8°, ~~because these are not resulting from low angle grain boundaries~~
228 ~~or healed cracks and are thus not related to internal misorientation.~~° The sum of these
229 misorientation angles divided by the number of measurements in a grain is gKAM.

230 Compositions of feldspars and other major minerals were measured by a Cameca SX100
231 electron microprobe, using 15 kV voltage, 10 nA beam current and 1 µm spot size. The ZAF
232 correction scheme provided by Cameca was used.

233

Commented [F13]: Points 9, review #1; Points 6, 8, review#2

234 4. Results

235 The primary magmatic assemblage of the pegmatite comprises quartz, albite-rich plagioclase,
236 K-feldspar and muscovite with accessory tourmaline, garnet, zircon, apatite and monazite. The
237 foliation and stretching lineation are characterized by large fragmented magmatic tourmaline
238 and feldspar, here referred to as porphyroclasts, ~~with their fragments separated parallel to the~~
239 ~~stretching lineation (Fig. 2a)~~ and alternating quartz-, albite- and mica-rich layers ~~deflected~~
240 ~~around the porphyroclasts (Fig. 2b2a-d). Feldspar in The plane normal to the mylonitic~~ foliation
241 ~~is 90-95 % albite, independent~~ and the stretching lineation are taken as the principal axes of the
242 ~~albite/K-feldspar porphyroclast ratio-finite strain ellipsoid z and x, respectively, which are~~
243 ~~indicated in micrographs~~. The K-feldspar is Na-poor (<10%) and ~~shows only rarely shows~~
244 perthitic exsolution. Plagioclase porphyroclasts have a narrow compositional range of Ab₉₆₋₁₀₀.
245 In few samples magmatic plagioclase with Ab₉₅₋₈₆ ~~occurs, then~~ ~~is present and in these grains~~
246 zoisite inclusions are common. Magmatic garnet is Mn-rich and low in Ca (on average
247 Alm₇₀Gro₄Sp₂₆). During metamorphism, garnet with a higher Ca- and lower Fe-component
248 (Alm₃₅Gro₄₅Sp₂₀) partly replaced magmatic grains (Fig. 3a). Epidote and Fe-bearing phengitic
249 white-mica (2 wt% FeO) grew in the foliation plane of mylonitic pegmatites (Fig. 3b).-The Fe-
250 bearing phengite sometimes directly replaces magmatic white mica. The modal percentage of
251 albite and K-feldspar varies in the different samples: albite comprises about 60-40 % and K-
252 feldspar about 5-30-%. The matrix layers comprise about 95-% albite, independent on the ratio
253 of K-feldspar to albite porphyroclasts, which varies from 8:1 to 1:9. This observation is
254 consistent with whole-rock compositions with a marked variation of Na₂O and K₂O reported
255 by Stöckhert (1987). ~~In contrast all samples~~ ~~Samples~~ show homogenously low CaO (<1 wt.%)
256 and FeO, MgO, MnO (< 1 wt.%) contents (Stöckhert,1987). The variations in the whole-rock
257 composition were interpreted to be due to different compositions of the anatectic melt or
258 mineral zoning in the pegmatite body and ~~influenced~~ ~~affected~~ by external fluids (Stöckhert,

Commented [F14]: Points 2, 10, 28, 30, 40, 46, review #2

Commented [F15]: Point 11, review#1

Commented [F16]: Point 12, review#1

Commented [F17]: Point 13, review#1

Commented [F18]: Point 14, review#1

259 1987). In the following, we describe the specific feldspar porphyroclast and matrix
260 microstructures.

261

262 4.1. Strain shadows

263 In all samples, polyphase aggregates of K-feldspar, albite, quartz and mica occur in ~~areas of~~
264 ~~dilation~~ prismatic strain shadows between tourmaline and feldspar fragments and surrounding
265 feldspar porphyroclasts (Fig. 2b, Fig. 4a, b). Asymmetric strain shadows are characterized by
266 different microstructures displayed in Figure 4a-c: polyphase aggregates of albite, K-feldspar
267 and quartz characterize the upper-left and lower-right quadrants, whereas the lower-left and
268 upper right quadrants contain almost monophase albite aggregates that alternate with quartz
269 layers. This asymmetric strain shadow is indicating a sinistral sense of shear, with the polyphase
270 aggregate representing ~~sites of dilation~~ extensional quadrants and the monophase aggregate ~~sites~~
271 ~~of compression~~ compressional quadrants. The shape of the albite grains in the monophase layers
272 is rather elliptical with a long axis parallel to the layer, whereas the shape of the albite and K-
273 feldspar grains in the polyphase aggregates are irregular ~~but~~ and rather isometric. Grain sizes
274 vary with long axes between 2 and 150 μm , the average of grain diameters is at ~~25 μm~~ 25 μm
275 ($1\sigma = 19 \mu\text{m}$) (Fig. 4h, i). The plagioclase composition uniformly ranges between Ab₉₇₋₁₀₀. ~~The~~
276 EBSD measurements of albite in strain shadows were analysed comparing single grain
277 orientations with that of the host, comparing pole figures of scattered measurements as well as
278 density plots recalculated from ODF (Fig. 4d-g). The EBSD data reveal that there are neither no
279 obvious orientation ~~relationships~~ relationship between ~~the~~ new grains within aggregates ~~nor~~ or a
280 specific relationship between new grains and porphyroclasts ~~(Fig. 4e-g)~~, although some new
281 grain orientations might correlate with that of the clast (compare to Fig. 4 f). Generally, the
282 internal misorientation angles of the grains in aggregates with a typical diameter of 25-~~30~~
283 ~~μm~~ 30 μm is low with a maximum internal misorientation generally lower than 5°. The relative
284 misorientation within the albite porphyroclast is lower than 10° (Fig. 4 c).

Commented [F19]: Points 2, 10, 28, 30, 40, 46 review# 2

Commented [F20]: Point 15, review#1

285

286 4.2. K-feldspar porphyroclasts

287 Single fractures in K-feldspar porphyroclasts are sealed by aggregates of K-feldspar, albite and
288 quartz, representing prismatic strain shadows (Figs. 2b, 5c, d). Dispersed fluid inclusion trails
289 at ~~low~~high angle to the ~~shortening direction~~stretching lineation are interpreted as healed
290 microcracks (Figs. 5a-c). Areas comprising a high amount of healed microcracks are associated
291 to undulous extinction, consistent with a bending of the crystal (Fig. 5a). This bending can be
292 quantified by a change in misorientation angle of about 20° over a distance of 700 µm. Yet, in
293 K-feldspar porphyroclasts that do not show dispersed healed microcracks, the internal
294 misorientation angle within one grain is generally below 5° (Fig. 5d) over a grain size of several
295 mm. The K-feldspar porphyroclast interface with new albite grains is ~~„saw-tooth“~~
296 ~~shaped~~cuscate due to protrusions of small albite grains ~~through into~~ K-Feldspar over a length
297 of a few tens of µm. Albite protrusions often have ~~curved~~ lobate grain boundaries
298 ~~at boundaries~~ at contact with K-feldspar porphyroclast (Fig. 6). The occurrence of this ~~sawtooth-~~
299 ~~shaped~~cuscate boundary is independent on position with respect to the stretching lineation or
300 ~~shortening directions~~foliation (Fig. 5, 6). EBSD analysis reveals that there is no crystallographic
301 relationship between K-feldspar porphyroclast and new albite grains and the misorientation
302 angle to the porphyroclast is generally high (Fig. 5d, e). -The new albite grains often contain
303 numerous pores and inclusions of tiny (< 5 µm) apatite needles, at the vicinity of the K-feldspar
304 porphyroclast interface (Fig. 6b, d). ~~Albite grains along~~ The apatite inclusions are in some places
305 also present in the sawtooth-shaped boundaries cut off the healed K-feldspar (Fig. 6b, arrows).
306 Healed microcracks terminate at new albite grains, which therefore are interpreted to have
307 formed after fracturing (arrows in Fig. 5c, d).

308

Commented [F21]: Point 17, review#1

Commented [F22]: Point 18, review#1

Commented [F23]: Point 19, review#1

Commented [F24]: Point 28, review #1

Commented [F25]: Point 20, review#1

309 4.3. Albite porphyroclasts

310 Albite porphyroclasts are commonly twinned, ~~kinked/bent~~ and fragmented (Fig. 7). ~~Albite twins~~
311 ~~are often bent~~ (Figs. 7, 8). The deformed fragments are surrounded by a fine-grained albite
312 ~~aggregates/aggregate~~ (grain diameters of 27 μm in average) with a very similar composition
313 (Ab_{96-100}) compared to the host albite, yet with a tendency to a somewhat higher albite
314 component (< 1% higher Ab component). An irregular, patchy An-rich seam (up to An_{20}) is
315 commonly observed around new albite grains (Fig. 7f). ~~The new~~New albite grains occur along
316 fractures ~~and kinks~~ of deformed porphyroclasts that are oriented subparallel to the foliation, i.e.,
317 ~~at~~along sites of ~~shortening and~~ high strain ~~and along boundaries parallel to the foliation~~ (Fig.
318 7a-c, e). The new albite grains are typically not twinned, in contrast to fragments of the host
319 (Fig. 7b, d). Larger host fragments have a relative high internal misorientation with angles
320 typically of about 10° along a profile length of 100 μm , ignoring ~~twinning/twin domains~~ (Fig.
321 8g, h). Grain kernel average misorientation (gKAM) values ($0.4-0.7^\circ$) for new grains are lower
322 than for the porphyroclast or its fragments ($0.7-1^\circ$) (Fig. 8b). Low-angle boundaries are typically
323 ~~observed~~ oriented ~~parallel~~at high angle to the ~~shortening direction~~stretching lineation,
324 indicating that they ~~rather~~ represent healed cracks associated with a slight misorientation ~~and~~
325 ~~do not indicate rather than indicating~~ subgrains (Fig. 8a). Curved low-angle boundaries
326 bounding subgrains were not observed. The orientation of the new grains scatters around the
327 orientation of the host crystal (Fig. 8c, d). The misorientation angle distribution shows an excess
328 of low and deficit of high misorientation angles for new grains compared to a random
329 distribution (Fig. 8e). ~~8e~~8e ~~particularly for correlated (neighbouring) measurements~~.

Commented [F26]: Point 15, review #2

Commented [F27]: Point 21, review #1

Commented [F28]: Point 22, review #1

Commented [F29]: Point 23, review #1

331 4.4. Monophase albite matrix alternating with quartz layers

332 In the fine-grained matrix, layers of almost purely albitic plagioclase Ab_{97-100} (i.e., similar or
333 slightly more Ab-rich compared to plagioclase porphyroclasts) alternate with quartz-rich layers

334 (Fig. 9; [Appendix 1, Table 1](#)). This mylonitic matrix is often deflected by albite porphyroclast
335 and can also be deflected by albite aggregates replacing former porphyroclasts ([Sectsect. 4.3](#)).
336 The microstructure of the layers differs characteristically in their grain size and shape. Based
337 on these two properties, we distinguish two endmembers of quartz-albite matrix microstructure:
338 Type A) The albite grains in the [a few hundred \$\mu\text{m}\$ wide](#) layers are isometric (aspect ratio: 1 –
339 1.3) with grain diameters varying between 10 – 70 μm , in average of about 15 μm (Fig. 9, 10).
340 The grains usually show no twinning and have a low internal misorientation of generally lower
341 than 5°. The grain boundaries are irregular to smoothly curved (Fig. 11). Inclusions of apatite
342 and domains with high porosity are common (Fig. 11). Grains show [compositional zoning](#)
343 [\(arrows in Fig. 11\), which](#) is often only apparent in CL images and is therefore probably linked
344 to changes in trace element contents. This zoning might be truncated by the growth of other
345 grains, [which is](#) generally in the direction of their long axes (green arrow in Fig. 11b). A weak
346 shape preferred orientation (SPO) parallel to the foliation can be deflected around the largest
347 porphyroclasts (Fig. 10 a, b). The misorientation angle distribution (Fig. 10c) and ~~pole~~
348 [figures/polefigures](#) (Fig. 10d) reveal a random texture. Associated quartz-layers are typically a
349 few hundred μm wide and composed of coarse-grained aggregates (diameter of 100 – 1000 μm ,
350 Figs. 2c, d, 9a,-b).- Quartz in layers shows undulatory extinction, subgrains and sutured grain
351 boundaries (Fig. 9a, b).

352 Type B) The albite grains in the layers [typically a few tens of \$\mu\text{m}\$ wide](#) are ~~lens-shaped~~ [elongate](#)
353 (aspect ratio: in average 2.3 and up to 9) and show a [marked](#) SPO. The average grain diameter
354 is with 30 μm larger than in the type A microstructure (Fig. 9 c, d, Fig. 12). Similar to the type
355 A microstructure, there is no apparent crystallographic preferred orientation (CPO) of albite
356 and grains have a low internal misorientation (Fig. 12b, c). Some K-feldspar can be present as
357 larger clasts (Fig. 12b) or as irregular flakes (Fig. 13a). The grain boundaries are mostly serrated
358 but can vary to smoothly curved and even straight, then they are at low angle to the foliation
359 (Fig. 13a, b). Straight segments can be parallel to the [traces of](#) (001) and (010) cleavage

Commented [F30]: Point 24, review#1

Commented [F31]: Point 25, review#1

Commented [F32]: Point 26, review#1

360 ~~planes~~plane, representing energetically favoured boundaries- (e.g., Tröger, 1982). The sutures
361 are affected by intragranular cracks, indicated by ~~trail~~trails of pores at ~~low~~high angle to the
362 ~~shortening direction~~stretching lineation (arrows in Fig. 13a, b). Numerous tiny apatite needles
363 occur in zones generally restricted to the centre of the grains but can be cut off by grain
364 boundaries (Fig. 13c) or microcracks. Rarely, grains with twins occur (Fig. 13e). Some grains
365 show Ca-enriched zones and areas with a higher porosity (Fig. 13e, f). The porosities parallel
366 to the short axes of grains, the elongate shape and the zoning indicate that grains grew ~~parallel~~
367 ~~to the stretching lineation. In general, samples that show the type B matrix record an overall~~
368 ~~higher strain compared to samples with type A matrix, as indicated by the fine-grained quartz~~
369 ~~layers with CPO, which are up to several mm long and a few tens of μm wide (Fig. at boundaries~~
370 ~~perpendicular to the stretching lineation. 2a, b, 9c, d, 12a, b, d).~~ Generally, new albite grains do
371 not show an orientation contrast observable by BSE imaging, in contrast to twinned remnants
372 of porphyroclasts (Fig. 7).

373 ~~Samples that show the type B matrix microstructure are interpreted to correlate to a higher strain~~
374 ~~because of the high aspect ratio (up to 9) and narrow spacing of the alternating quartz-albite~~
375 ~~layers (tens of μm) compared to the type A microstructure with a larger spacing of the layers~~
376 ~~of a few hundreds of μm and a lower aspect ratio (Fig. 2a, b, 9c, d, 12a, b, d). These microfabrics~~
377 ~~correlate with the observation from the field, where samples showing a type B microstructure~~
378 ~~are characterized by a more narrow spacing of the foliation planes, lower abundance and~~
379 ~~diameter of porphyroclast as well as a more pronounced stretching lineation.~~

Commented [F33]: Point 7, review#2

381 5. Discussion

382 In the following, we discuss the deformation and replacement mechanisms of feldspar leading
383 to the mylonitic fabric and implications on the Alpine deformation.

384 **5.1. Interface-coupled K-feldspar replacement by albite**

385 The replacement of K-feldspar by albite is a widely observed reaction in deforming granitoids
386 at low temperatures. Different types of replacements of K-feldspar by albite have been
387 discussed, which can be divided into two groups:

- 388 1) Neocrystallisation or heterogeneous nucleation during metamorphic reactions and/or
389 precipitation from the pore fluid, produces distinct albite grains without any
390 crystallographic relationship to the replaced K-feldspar. The replacements often appear
391 in strings and patches inside the host grain and may be related to fractures (e.g. Fitz
392 Gerald ~~&and~~ Stünitz, 1993; Stünitz, 1998; Menegon et al., 2013).
- 393 2) Interface-coupled dissolution of K-feldspar (or plagioclase) and spatially coupled
394 precipitation of albite leads to a strong structural coherence across the reaction interface,
395 i.e. of the primary mineral on the ~~orientation of~~orientation of secondary mineral as found
396 in rocks (Plümper ~~&and~~ Putnis, 2009; Putnis, 2009) and experiments (Norberg et al.,
397 2011; Hövelmann et al., 2010). These studies reported that the new ~~albite~~
398 ~~might albite might~~ be porous and might contain secondary inclusions. Norberg et al.
399 (2011) observed associated microcracking in the K-feldspar adjacent to the reaction
400 front. The dissolution of K-feldspar has been found to be orientation-dependent
401 (Norberg et al., 2011). ~~Sawtooth-shaped~~Cuspate protrusions of albite growing into the
402 host K-feldspar have been found to be characteristic of such interface-coupled
403 replacements (Norberg et al., 2011).

404 The ~~sawtooth-shaped~~cuspate boundaries between new grains of albite and K-feldspar
405 porphyroclasts are interpreted to indicate interface-coupled replacement (Fig. 6). ~~The~~
406 supported by the porosity and apatite inclusions in albite replacing K-feldspar ~~support also this~~
407 ~~assumption~~-(Fig. 6b, d). ~~The K-feldspar replacement is independent on the~~from the orientation
408 ~~to of the shortening or boundary to the foliation and stretching lineations~~lineation and is
409 therefore interpreted to be not directly related to the strain-field during deformation, not

410 ~~excluding some influence of higher strain along the boundary compared to within the crystal.~~

Commented [F34]: Point 29, review#1, point 5, 50 review#2

411 The driving force is interpreted to be the difference in solubility between albite and K-feldspar
412 at the given greenschist-facies metamorphic conditions (Putnis, 2009). Whereas locally albite
413 grew to replace K-feldspar, K must have been transported through the pore fluid, either to form
414 metamorphic phengitic mica in the foliation plane or to precipitate K-feldspar in polyphase
415 strain shadows (see chapter 5.4.).

416 The albite in grains along intragranular fractures within K-feldspar (Fig. 2b, 5d) might represent
417 neocrystallization of albite replacing K-feldspar. As the intragranular fractures perpendicular
418 to the stretching ~~direction (X)~~ ~~lination (x)~~, ~~these sealed fractures might~~ represent ~~sites of dilation,~~
419 ~~it is more likely that the prismatic strain shadows, i.e.~~ albite ~~may have~~ precipitated from the
420 pore fluid ~~without and not necessarily~~ replacing K-feldspar, ~~i.e. these sealed fractures rather~~
421 ~~represent strain shadows.~~

Commented [F35]: Point 30, review#1

423 5.2. Strain-~~driven~~ induced replacement of albite

424 ~~Albite porphyroclasts are mostly deformed at sites of shortening, commonly associated with~~
425 ~~dislocation glide indicated by bent mechanical twins (Fig. 7a-e). The areas of high strain Albite~~
426 ~~porphyroclasts are mostly deformed at boundaries parallel to the foliation, commonly~~
427 ~~associated with bent mechanical twins (Fig. 7a-e). Bent twins are corresponding to an undulous~~
428 ~~extinction indicating a continuous internal misorientation, which is usually taken to result from~~
429 ~~the presence of geometrically necessary dislocations (e.g., Nicolas and Poirier, 1976; Poirier,~~
430 ~~1985; Wheeler et al., 2009), though some microcracking might also be involved, as pointed out~~
431 ~~by Tullis and Yund (1987). For albite this continuous internal misorientation is not associated~~
432 ~~to distributed healed microfractures, as observed for K-feldspar (compare Figs. 5 and 7), which~~
433 ~~is taken to indicate a relative higher importance of dislocation glide for the deformation of albite~~
434 ~~compared to K-feldspar. Strained areas (fractures, porphyroclast boundaries) parallel to the~~
435 ~~foliation~~ are replaced by new, strain free grains that are generally not twinned (Fig. 7b, d, e-f).

Commented [F36]: Points 31, 34 review #1, point 3 review #2

436 The composition of the new albite grains can be the same as that of the replaced porphyroclast,
437 though it can also show slightly higher Na-content, as already reported by Stöckhert (1987).
438 Plagioclase with Ca-richer compositions occurs locally as thin rims at grain boundaries of new
439 grains with no systematic occurrence (Figs. 7f). Because new strain-free albite grains replace
440 twinned porphyroclasts with internal misorientation at ~~sites of shortening boundaries parallel to~~
441 ~~the foliation~~ (Figs. 7e, f, 8a, b) ~~and~~ along intragranular microcracks ~~and kink bands~~ parallel
442 to the foliation (Fig. 7a, b), the replacement is interpreted to be driven by the reduction in stored
443 strain energy. ~~Strain-induced grain boundary migration coupled with and formation of growth~~
444 ~~rims following~~ dislocation glide ~~and microfracturing~~ is consistent with an orientation scatter
445 ~~around the orientation of the host porphyroclast (Fig. 8d, f). The similar composition of the new~~
446 albite compared to the replaced porphyroclasts, with a tendency of a slightly increased Na-
447 content, suggests a contribution of chemical driving forces although strain-induced grain
448 boundary migration is dominating (Stöckhert, 1982; Stünitz, 1998). Whereas dislocation glide
449 is indicated by bent, ~~kinked~~ and twinned porphyroclasts and fragments with internal
450 ~~misorientations~~ misorientation, we did not observe subgrains in deformed fragments (Fig. 8a-
451 c), even not in strongly bent ~~and kinked~~ porphyroclasts (Fig. 7 a, b, e) ~~and no sutured grain~~
452 ~~boundaries indicating dynamic “bulging recrystallization” (e.g., Drury et al., 1985; Stünitz,~~
453 ~~1998)~~. This is consistent with the general finding that albite shows only little evidence of
454 dislocation climb with dynamic recovery and recrystallization at $T \leq 550^\circ\text{C}$ (e.g., Tullis, 1983;
455 Fitz Gerald & Stünitz, 1993; Kruse & Stünitz, 2001) ~~and Stünitz, 1993; Kruse and Stünitz,~~
456 ~~2001). Dislocation climb necessary for dynamic recovery and recrystallization requires~~
457 ~~intracrystalline diffusion. At the investigated temperatures ($<550^\circ\text{C}$), the $\text{NaSi} \leftrightarrow \text{CaAl}$~~
458 ~~interdiffusion rates for plagioclase are very low (Yund, 1986; Korolyuk & Lepezin, 2009). In~~
459 ~~the presence of water, the diffusion coefficient is several magnitudes higher, which might~~
460 ~~account for the weakening observed in experiments where fluid is present (e.g. Rybacki &~~
461 ~~Dresen, 2004). Only few studies report subgrains in albite deformed at greenschist facies~~

Commented [F37]: Point 32, review #1; Points 34-36, review #2

462 ~~conditions, sometimes together with shear bands (Fitz Gerald & Stünitz, 1993; Eberlei et al.,~~
463 ~~2014). TEM studies also show that sufficient dislocation climb to produce subgrains is effective~~
464 ~~only at temperatures from the middle amphibolite upward (e.g. White, 1975; Stünitz et al.,~~
465 ~~2003). The experiments by Tullis & Yund (1985) show that grain boundaries may migrate into~~
466 ~~areas of higher dislocation density introduced by microfracturing driven by the reduction in~~
467 ~~strain energy (Tullis & Yund, 1987) at conditions, at which recovery is not active.~~

468 We suggest that albite porphyroclasts deform in the regime of low-temperature plasticity, where
469 dislocation climb is ineffective and where dislocation glide leads to strain hardening and
470 microfracturing. Additionally, dislocations can be induced by microfracturing (Tullis and
471 Yund, 1987). Subsequently, grains grow by strain-induced grain boundary migration, where
472 crystalline volume with higher strain energy is dissolved and strain-free crystalline volumes
473 precipitated, as opposed to solid state grain boundary migration with effective dislocation
474 climb suggested by Tullis and Yund (1987). Growth can additionally be by precipitation along
475 areas of lower solubility leading to growth rims with a shape-preferred orientation with long
476 axes in the foliation plane. Strain-induced grain boundary migration might be enhanced by
477 chemical disequilibrium (Stöckhert, 1982; Stünitz, 1998). ~~This~~Our interpretation of strain-
478 induced replacement is similar to the “micro-crush zones” described by Tullis ~~&and~~ Yund
479 (1992) associated with undulous extinction, shear bands and grain size reduction that are usually
480 associated to crystal plastic mechanisms (Mclaren ~~&and~~ Pryer, 2001; Stünitz et al., 2003). This
481 process is also similar to the “neocrystallization” in the sense of Fitz Gerald ~~&and~~ Stünitz
482 (1993) and Menegon et al. (2013), which may or may not cause some compositional variations,
483 dependent on the local fluid present. We, however, ~~prefer~~suggest the term “strain-
484 driven/induced replacement” for the nucleation by low-temperature plasticity (associated
485 dislocation glide and microfracturing) and growth ~~by strain induced grain boundary~~
486 ~~migration~~to stress firstly the importance of dislocation glide (as opposed to the term “micro-
487 crush zones” that stresses brittle mechanisms) and secondly to stress the difference to

Commented [F38]: Point 39, review #1

Commented [F39]: Point 37, review #2

488 precipitation with nucleation of new phases from the pore fluid ~~at sites of dilation~~ in strain
489 shadows. (as opposed to the term “neocrystallization”).

491 5.3. Intragranular fracturing of K-feldspar

492 ~~In contrast,~~ K-feldspar porphyroclasts deformed dominantly by intragranular fracturing with no
493 comparable strain-~~driven~~induced replacement associated with a grain size reduction as
494 observed for albite. ~~Intragranular fractures at low angle to the shortening direction are the~~
495 ~~dominating deformation microstructures, which did not result in major grain size reduction.~~ ~~A~~
496 preferred crystallographic relation of the intragranular fractures was not detected, given their
497 orientation at high angle to the stretching lineation independent on crystallographic orientation
498 (Fig. 5), ruling out a major influence of cleavage fractures, although feldspars do show perfect
499 cleavage after (001) and one good cleavage after (010) (e.g., Tröger, 1982). Single fractures
500 are sealed with albite, K-feldspar and quartz representing prismatic strain shadows, or they are
501 healed (Fig. 5). Bending of K-feldspar porphyroclast associated to undulous extinction is
502 restricted to sites of distributed microcracking, ~~where some influence of dislocation glide is~~
503 ~~probable (Fig. 5a).~~ (Fig. 5a). The high amount of healed microcracks at high angle to the
504 stretching lineation indicates that here, microfracturing was dominating over dislocation glide
505 in the bending of the crystal, as opposed to albite porphyroclasts (compare Fig. 5a and Fig. 7 a,
506 e). In contrast to plagioclase, where mechanical twinning is commonly observed, mechanical
507 twinning of K-feldspar is hindered by the Si/Al-ordering ~~and has not been observed~~ (Tullis,
508 1983).

509 Reaction weakening of K-feldspar, commonly in association with myrmekites, is known to play
510 a major role during grain size reduction and ductile deformation at many metamorphic
511 conditions (e.g., Simpson and Wintsch, 1989; Tsurumi et al., 2003; Ree et al., 2005; Menegon
512 et al., 2006, 2008, 2013; Abart et al., 2014). In the mylonitic pegmatites described here,
513 myrmekitic replacements are very rare and apart from the ~~sawtooth-shaped~~cusped

Commented [F40]: Point 37, review#1

Commented [F41]: Point 37, review #2

514 replacements, K-feldspar porphyroclasts are well preserved. Thus, reaction weakening of K-
515 feldspar is rheologically not relevant for the mylonitic deformation described here.

516

517 **5.4. Precipitation at sites of dilation in strain shadows**

518 The occurrence of polyphase aggregates of K-feldspar, albite, mica and quartz ~~located at~~
519 ~~dilatational sites in strain shadows~~ between fragments of tourmaline and feldspar
520 porphyroclasts, as well as surrounding porphyroclast (Figs. 2a, b, 4a-c, 5c, d), with random
521 texture and absent systematic crystallographic relationships indicate that these aggregates
522 represent precipitates of a saturated pore fluid during deformation by dissolution-precipitation
523 creep (Passchier & Trouw, 2005); e.g., Groshong, 1988; Passchier and Trouw, 2005; Wassmann
524 and Stöckhert, 2013). ~~[That few grain orientations in the strain shadow correlate with that of the~~
525 ~~host crystal is interpreted to be due to the presence of fragments of the host crystal (Fig. 4d).~~

Commented [F42]: Points 2, 10 28, 30, 40, 46, review #2

Commented [F43]: point 16, review #1

526 The precipitation of K-feldspar, quartz and albite in strain shadows and albite growth rims is
527 restricted to ~~sites of dilation, i.e. boundaries at high angle to the stretching lineation (x), i.e.~~
528 controlled by strain, yet an additional chemical driving force is clearly not ruled out but rather
529 probable. ~~Additionally, some replacement might also occur in strain shadows.~~ The sites of
530 dissolution are much more difficult to identify, as the material has been removed.

531 A polyphase matrix of K-feldspar, albite quartz and mica in mylonitic granitoids is often
532 attributed to fine-grained reaction products (e.g., Stünitz ~~&~~ Fitz Gerald, 1993; Rosenberg
533 ~~&~~ Stünitz, 2003; Kilian et al., 2011). Other authors, suggest polyphase matrix to develop by
534 mechanical phase mixing in mylonites at highest strain (Fliervoet, 1995). In the mylonitic
535 pegmatites reported here, however, no indication of active “phase mixing” is observed and we
536 attribute the occurrence of a polyphase matrix to precipitation. Also, the ~~highest strain in~~
537 ~~the characteristic~~ mylonitic ~~microstructure of the~~ pegmatites is associated not with a polyphase
538 matrix but with the monophasic quartz and ~~feldspar albite~~ layers.

539

540 **5.5. Formation of monophasic albite layers**

541 Based on our observations that ~~the~~ albite in layers shows the same characteristics as albite grains
542 replacing albite porphyroclasts (missing subgrains and internal misorientations, apatite
543 inclusions, weak chemical zoning and porosity, and remnants of twinned porphyroclast
544 fragments), we suggest, that the strain-~~driven~~induced replacement of albite is the most
545 important process of grain size reduction to form the monophasic albite layers (Fig. 14).
546 Additionally, some part of the albite in the mylonitic matrix stems from the replacement of K-
547 feldspar (See Sects. 4.2 and 5.1), as suggested by K-feldspar-relicts (Figs. 12b; 13a). Because
548 the matrix layers comprise about 95% albite, independent on the ratio of K-feldspar to albite
549 porphyroclasts, we suggest that albite is taking up a higher amount of strain as compared to K-
550 feldspar. Dislocation creep of albite is ruled out as main process to form the fine-grained almost
551 monophasic albite layers, given a missing systematic CPO as well as missing evidence of
552 effective dislocation climb. Also, precipitation from the pore fluid as dominating process can
553 be ruled out, given the monophasic composition of the layers, in contrast to polyphase
554 aggregates in dilation sites, strain shadows. Cataclasis would suggest a higher amount of
555 twinned and deformed fragments. Instead, only very rarely twinned grains are observed (Fig.
556 13e).

557 After We suggest that after grain size reduction by, the strain-driven replacement of fine-grained
558 albite, matrix was undergoing a mixture of dissolution-precipitation processes, microcracking
559 and sliding of grains, commonly referred to as granular flow (e.g., Behrmann and Mainprice,
560 1987; Stünitz and Fitz Gerald, 1993; Jiang et al., 2000), i.e. sliding of grains relative to each
561 other probably has played a major role in the fine-grained albite matrix. Straight). Sliding might
562 have occurred along straight boundaries weakly inclined to the foliation (Fig. 13b) might
563 represent boundaries along which sliding occurred. This and the weak zoning in association
564 with microcracks 13b). Microcracking is indicated by the fractures at low/high angles to the
565 shortening direction foliation (Fig. 13a, b, e) indicate that granular flow was assisted by

566 ~~microcracking and~~. The weak zoning of grains (Figs. 11 and 13) suggests the involvement of
567 dissolution-precipitation ~~processes~~. Granular flow would also cause weakening of a domainal
568 CPO resulting from the replacement of albite porphyroclasts (e.g. Jiang ~~and Wheeler et al.~~
569 2000; Hildyard et al., 2011).

570 Quartz layers of coarse recrystallized grains systematically correlate with albite layers of small
571 isometric grains in the type A matrix microstructure (sect. 4.4; Figs. 9a, b; 10; 11). In contrast,
572 narrow quartz layers with fine-grained quartz aggregates and marked CPO are correlated with
573 elongate coarser albite in the type B matrix microstructure (Sect. 4.4; Figs. 9c, d; 12; 13).

574 The elongate shape of albite ~~and zones of high porosity at boundaries at high angle to the~~
575 stretching lineation in the type B matrix microstructure indicates ~~oriented-growth parallel to the~~
576 stretching lineation, i.e. overgrowth at sites of dilation, as indicated by the growth zones
577 associated with porosity parallel to the shortening direction~~precipitation, resulting in a shape-~~
578 preferred orientation (Fig. 13e, f). The microstructure correlates with the overall strain of the
579 mylonitic matrix (Fig. 14). ~~The~~In samples with higher ~~the~~ overall strain, ~~the coarser and more~~
580 elongate the albite grains in the layers are coarser and more elongate and ~~the finer grained~~
581 quartz aggregates with are finer-grained and have a marked CPO. ~~Therefore, we suggest that~~
582 the albite grains grew parallel to the stretching lineation, forming a higher aspect ratio by
583 preferred growth.

585 ~~5.6. Rheologically dominant processes~~

587 5.6. Implications for rock rheology and deformation history

588 The prismatic strain shadows of polyphase material between fragmented tourmaline and
589 feldspar as well as strain shadows surrounding ~~porphyroelast~~porphyroclasts indicate that
590 dissolution-precipitation creep did play a role in the rheology of the rocks. Yet, other indicators
591 of dissolution-precipitation creep, as for example evidence of dissolved feldspar porphyroclasts

Commented [F44]: Point 40, review #1, Points 42, 48, review#2

592 ~~at sites of shortening, i.e. strain caps, are remarkably low. In contrast, the monophasic quartz~~
593 ~~and albite layers are the main characteristic of the mylonitic microstructure and clearly~~
594 ~~correlated with strain. Therefore, strain-induced replacement of albite with granular flow and~~
595 ~~dislocation creep of quartz are interpreted to rheologically dominate over dissolution-~~
596 ~~precipitation creep along boundaries parallel to the foliation, i.e. strain caps, are remarkably~~
597 ~~low. The monophasic alternating quartz and albite layers are the main characteristic of the~~
598 ~~mylonites. The dominating process of grain size reduction of feldspar is interpreted to be the~~
599 ~~strain-induced replacement of albite with associated dislocation glide and fracturing (Fig. 14).~~
600 ~~Subsequent growth by strain-induced grain boundary migration and formation of growth rims~~
601 ~~by precipitation resulted in a SPO (Fig. 14), which took place probably simultaneously together~~
602 ~~with granular flow and dislocation creep of quartz. As such, for considering the rock's rheology,~~
603 ~~these different deformation mechanisms and associated processes have to be taken into account,~~
604 ~~where the relative contributions additionally vary with time. In contrast, dissolution-~~
605 ~~precipitation creep with dissolution along boundaries parallel to the foliation and precipitation~~
606 ~~with nucleation of new phases in strain shadows is interpreted to play an only subordinate role~~
607 ~~for the formation of the mylonitic alternating quartz-albite layers, although precipitation of~~
608 ~~albite forming elongate grains with SPO in monophasic aggregates is important. Furthermore, a~~
609 ~~major role of dislocation creep of feldspar (i.e., deformation by dislocation glide with~~
610 ~~simultaneous dynamic recovery) on the formation of the mylonitic microstructure as may be~~
611 ~~suggested by monophasic layers of fine-grained feldspar aggregates, is not supported by any~~
612 ~~further microstructural observation (e.g., systematic missing of LAGBs) and therefore~~
613 ~~interpreted to be rheologically not relevant during deformation.~~

614 The observation of newly precipitated grains from the pore fluid between tourmaline and K-
615 feldspar fractures at ~~sites of dilation~~ strain shadows as well as the microcracks in K-feldspar that
616 are cut off by the wedge shaped albites replacing K-feldspar (Figs. 2a, b; 3c, d) indicate growth
617 of grains after fracturing and during ongoing deformation. The observation of the deflected

618 mylonitic foliation around former porphyroclasts, which are now replaced by new grains (Fig.
619 2c, d; 7c), indicates that the new grains grew after, ~~or more probably,~~ during the formation of
620 the mylonitic layers, but not before. Thus, strain-induced replacement of albite must have
621 played an important role during an early stage of deformation and was ongoing during granular
622 flow. Thus, a specific sequence of different deformation episodes at markedly different
623 metamorphic stages, as had been discussed, is not apparent (Stöckhert, 1987; Mancktelow et
624 al., 2001). The indication of the type A matrix microstructure being dominating in the eastern
625 area and the type B matrix microstructure representing in comparison higher strain in the
626 western area (Fig. 1) might be correlated with higher metamorphic temperature conditions in
627 the western area, as the amount of uplift and erosion since the intrusion of magmatic bodies at
628 30 Ma is increasing from about 10 km in an eastern area of the Rieserferner to about 15 to 25
629 km in the Rensen area in the west (Trepmann et al., 2004).

Commented [F45]: General comment and points 42, 43
review #1, points 1, 2 review#2

631 6. Conclusions

632 The mylonitic pegmatites record the deformation behaviour of feldspar at greenschist facies
633 conditions. Based on our observations and discussions we draw the following conclusions:

- 634 1. K-feldspar porphyroclasts deformed dominantly by fracturing and only subordinate
635 dislocation glide, without major grain size reduction. Healed or sealed intragranular
636 fractures in large porphyroclasts at ~~low~~high angle to the ~~shortening direction~~stretching
637 lineation are the dominating deformation microstructures of K-feldspar (Fig. 5).
- 638 2. Interface-coupled replacement of K-feldspar by albite is mainly driven by chemical
639 disequilibrium ~~and not by strain,~~ as indicated by the ~~sawtooth-shaped~~cusped albite-K-
640 feldspar phase boundaries independent on the orientation of the boundary to the foliation
641 or the stretching lineation (Fig. 6).
- 642 3. Grain size reduction of albite porphyroclasts is by combined fracturing, ~~and~~ dislocation
643 glide, i.e. low-temperature plasticity. Dislocation glide is indicated by bent and twinned

644 remnant host albites with internal misorientation. Evidence of significant amount of
645 dislocation climb allowing effective dislocation creep with dynamic recovery of
646 feldspar is systematically missing (no subgrains, negligible internal misorientation of
647 new grains; Figs. 10c, d, 12c, e).

648 3.4. Subsequent strain-induced grain boundary migration and formation of growth rims
649 produced aggregates of strain-free albite grains with SPO at sites of
650 shortening porphyroblast boundaries parallel to the foliation (Figs. 7c-f, 8). The observed
651 tendency of slightly enriched Na-content (decrease of Ca-content) of the new albite
652 grains compared to albite porphyroclasts is in agreement with an additional, though
653 subordinate driving force for grain boundary migration by chemical disequilibrium
654 (Stöckhert, 1982).

655 ~~4.1. Dislocation glide is indicated by bent, kinked and twinned albite with internal~~
656 ~~misorientation. Evidence of significant amount of dislocation climb allowing effective~~
657 ~~dislocation creep with recovery of feldspar is systematically missing (no subgrains,~~
658 ~~negligible internal misorientation of new grains, random texture Figs. 10c, d, 12c, e).~~

659 ~~5. Granular flow of the new albite grains assisted by fracturing and dissolution-~~
660 ~~precipitation with overgrowth of albite parallel to the stretching direction in samples of~~
661 ~~high strain led to the monophase albite ribbons (Figs. 9-13).~~

662 6.5. Monophase quartz ~~ribbons~~ layers formed dominantly by dislocation creep (dislocation
663 glide, dynamic recovery and grain boundary migration~~recrystallization~~) of quartz, as
664 indicated by sutured grain boundaries, CPO, subgrains and undulatory extinction (Figs.
665 2c, 9, 12a, d). Some influence of dissolution-precipitation creep cannot be excluded;
666 though microstructural evidence has not been observed.

667 ~~Although evidence of dissolution-precipitation creep is evident by polyphase strain shadows~~
668 ~~and sealed fractures of porphyroclasts, the main strain of the mylonitic pegmatites is correlating~~
669 ~~with the alternating albite and quartz layers. Strain induced replacement of albite and granular~~

670 ~~flow assisted by fracturing and dissolution-precipitation as well as dislocation creep of quartz~~
671 ~~are the rheologically dominant processes recorded by the pegmatitic mylonites.~~

672 6. Granular flow of the new albite grains with overgrowth of albite forming a SPO together
673 with quartz dislocation creep is interpreted to result in the alternating monophasic albite-
674 quartz layers (Figs. 9-13).

675 For considering the rock's rheology, these different deformation mechanisms and associated
676 processes have to be taken into account, where the relative contributions additionally vary with
677 time.

679 Acknowledgements

680 This study was funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG grant TR534-4-1). ~~The~~
681 ~~reviews by Rüdiger Kilian and an anonymous reviewer are gratefully acknowledged, as is~~
682 Bernhard Stöckert ~~is gratefully acknowledged~~ for discussions. Namvar Jahanmehr and Michael
683 Herrmann are acknowledged for preparation of thin sections, as are Patrick Eschenbacher and
684 Dominique Mackensen for helping with field work.

686 References

- 687 Abart, R., Heuser, D., and Habler, G.: Mechanisms of myrmekite formation: case study from
688 the Weinsberg granite, Moldanubian zone, Upper Austria, Contributions to Mineralogy and
689 Petrology, 168, 1–15, <https://doi.org/10.1007/s00410-014-1074-7>, 2014.
- 690 Behrmann, J. H. and Mainprice, D.: Deformation mechanisms in a high-temperature quartz-
691 feldspar mylonite: evidence for superplastic flow in the lower continental crust,
692 Tectonophysics, 140, 297–305, [https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-1951\(87\)90236-8](https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-1951(87)90236-8), 1987.
- 693 Borsi, S., Del Moro, A., Sassi, F. P., Zanferrari, A., and Zirpoli, G.: New geopetrologic and
694 radiometric data on the Alpine history of the Austridic continental margin south of the
695 Tauern window (Eastern Alps), Memorie di Scienze Geologiche, 32, 1–19, 1978.
- 696 Borsi, S., Del Moro, A., Sassi, F. P., and Zirpoli, G.: On the age of the Vedrette di Ries
697 (Rieserferner) massif and its geodynamic significance, Geologische Rundschau, 68, 41–60,
698 <https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01821121>, 1979.
- 699 Borsi, S., Del Moro, A., Sassi, F. P., Visona, D., and Zirpoli, G.: On the existence of Hercynian
700 aplites and pegmatites in the lower Aurina valley (Ahrntal, Austrides, Eastern Alps), Neues
701 Jahrbuch für Mineralogie, 11, 501–514, 1980.

702 Brace, W. and Kohlstedt, D. L.: Limits on lithospheric stress imposed by laboratory
703 experiments, *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 85, 6248–6252, 1980.

704 Brander, L., Svahnberg, H., and Piazzolo, S.: Brittle-plastic deformation in initially dry rocks at
705 fluid-present conditions: transient behaviour of feldspar at mid-crustal levels, *Contributions
706 to Mineralogy and Petrology*, 163, 403–425, <https://doi.org/10.1007/s00410-011-0677-5>,
707 2011.

708 Bürgmann, R. and Dresen, G.: Rheology of the Lower Crust and Upper Mantle: Evidence from
709 Rock Mechanics, Geodesy, and Field Observations, *Annual Review of Earth and Planetary
710 Sciences*, 36, 531–567, <https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.earth.36.031207.124326>, 2008.

711 Burov, E. B.: Plate Rheology and Mechanics, pp. 99 – 151, Elsevier, Amsterdam,
712 <https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-044452748-6.00102-4>, 2007.

713 Burov, E. B.: Rheology and strength of the lithosphere, *Marine and Petroleum Geology*, 28,
714 1402–1443, <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpetgeo.2011.05.008>, 2011.

715 Drury, M. R., Humphreys, F. J., and White, S. H.: Large strain deformation studies using
716 polycrystalline magnesium as a rock analogue. Part II: dynamic recrystallisation
717 mechanisms at high temperatures, *Physics of the Earth and Planetary Interiors*, 40, 208–
718 222, [https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9201\(85\)90131-1](https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9201(85)90131-1), 1985.

719 Eberlei, T., Habler, G., Grasemann, B., and Abart, R.: Upper-greenschist facies intragrain
720 deformation of albite in mylonitic meta-pegmatite and the influence of crystallographic
721 anisotropy on microstructure formation, *Journal of Structural Geology*, 69, 47–58,
722 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsg.2014.10.001>, 2014.

723 Fitz Gerald, J. and Stünitz, H.: Deformation of granitoids at low metamorphic grade. I:
724 Reactions and grain size reduction, *Tectonophysics*, 221, 269–297,
725 [https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-1951\(93\)90163-E](https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-1951(93)90163-E), 1993.

726 Fliervoet, T. F.: Deformation Mechanisms in Fine Grained Quartzo-Feldspathic Mylonites,
727 Ph.D. thesis, Universiteit Utrecht, 1995.

728 Gapais, D.: Shear structures within deformed granites: mechanical and thermal indicators,
729 *Geology*, 17, 1144–1147, [https://doi.org/10.1130/0091-
730 7613\(1989\)017<1144:SSWDGM>2.3.CO](https://doi.org/10.1130/0091-7613(1989)017<1144:SSWDGM>2.3.CO), 1989.

731 Gleason, G. C. and Tullis, J.: Improving flow laws and piezometers for quartz and feldspar
732 aggregates, *Geophysical Research Letters*, 20, 2111–2114,
733 <https://doi.org/10.1029/93GL02236>, 1993.

734 [Groshong, H., 1988. Low-temperature deformation mechanisms and their interpretation. *Geol.*
735 *Soc. Am. Bull.* 100, 1329–1360.](#)

736 Habler, G., Thöni, M., and Grasemann, B.: Cretaceous metamorphism in the Austroalpine
737 Matsch Unit (Eastern Alps): The interrelation between deformation and chemical
738 equilibration processes, *Mineralogy and Petrology*, 97, 149–171,
739 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s00710-0090094-x>, 2009.

740 Hildyard, R. C., Prior, D. J., Mariani, E., and Faulkner, D. R.: Characterization of
741 microstructures and interpretation of flow mechanisms in naturally deformed, fine-grained
742 anhydrite by means of EBSD analysis, *Geological Society, London, Special Publications*,
743 360, 237–255, <https://doi.org/10.1144/SP360.14>, 2011.

744 Hirth, G., Teyssier, C., and Dunlap, W. J.: An evaluation of quartzite flow laws based on
745 comparisons between experimentally and naturally deformed rocks, *International Journal
746 of Earth Sciences*, 90, 77–87, <https://doi.org/10.1007/s005310000152>, 2001.

747 Hofmann, K., Kleinschrodt, R., Lippert, R., Mager, D., and Stöckhert, B.: Geologische Karte
748 des Altkristallins südlich des Tauernfensters zwischen Pfunderer Tal und Tauferer Tal
749 (Südtirol), *Der Schlern*, 57, 572–590, 1983.

750 Hoinkes, G., Koller, F., Rantitsch, G., Dachs, E., Höck, V., Neubauer, F., and Schuster, R.:
751 Alpine metamorphism of the Eastern Alps, *Schweizerische mineralogische und*
752 *petrographische Mitteilungen*, 79, 155–181, 1999.

753 Hövelmann, J., Putnis, A., Geisler, T., Schmidt, B. C., and Golla-Schindler, U.: The
754 replacement of plagioclase feldspars by albite: Observations from hydrothermal
755 experiments, *Contributions to Mineralogy and Petrology*, 159, 43–59,
756 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s00410-009-04154>, 2010.

757 Ishii, K., Kanagawa, K., Shigematsu, N., and Okudaira, T.: High ductility of K-feldspar and
758 development of granitic banded ultramylonite in the Ryoke metamorphic belt, SW Japan,
759 *Journal of Structural Geology*, 29, 1083–1098, <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsg.2007.02.008>,
760 2007.

761 Jaoul, O. and Tullis, J.: The effect of varying water contents on the creep behaviour of Heavitree
762 Quartzite, *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 89, 4298–4312,
763 <https://doi.org/10.1029/JB089iB06p04298>, 1984.

764 Jiang, Z., Prior, D. J., and Wheeler, J.: Albite crystallographic preferred orientation and grain
765 misorientation distribution in a low-grade mylonite: implications for granular flow, *Journal*
766 *of Structural Geology*, 22, 1663–1674, [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8141\(00\)00079-1](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8141(00)00079-1),
767 2000.

768 Jordan, P.: The rheology of polymineralic rocks - an approach, *Geologische Rundschau*, 77,
769 285–294, <https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01848690>, 1988.

770 Kilian, R. and Heilbronner, R.: Analysis of crystallographic preferred orientations of
771 experimentally deformed Black Hills Quartzite, *Solid Earth*, 8, 1095–1117,
772 <https://doi.org/10.5194/se-8-1095-2017>, 2017.

773 Kilian, R., Heilbronner, R., and Stünitz, H.: Quartz grain size reduction in a granitoid rock and
774 the transition from dislocation to diffusion creep, *Journal of Structural Geology*, 33, 1265–
775 1284, <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsg.2011.05.004>, 2011.

776 Kleinschrodt, R.: Quarzkorngefügeanalyse im Altkristallin südlich des westlichen
777 Tauernfensters (Südtirol_Italien), *Erlanger geologische Abhandlungen*, 114, 1 – 82, 1987.

778 Kohlstedt, D. L.: Strength of the lithosphere: Constraints imposed by laboratory experiments,
779 *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 100, 17587– 17602, <https://doi.org/10.1029/95JB01460>,
780 1995.

781 Korolyuk, V. N. and Lepezin, G. G.: The coefficients of heterovalent NaSi-CaAl interdiffusion
782 in plagioclases, *Russian Geology and Geophysics*, 50, 1146–1152,
783 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rgg.2009.11.013>, 2009.

784 [Krakow, R., Bennett, R. J., Johnstone, D. N., Vukmanovic, Z., Solano-Alvarez, W., Lainé, S.
785 J., Einsle, J. F., Midgley, P. A., Rae, C. M. F., Hielscher, R.: On three-dimensional
786 misorientation spaces, *Proceedings of the Royal Society A*, 473,
787 <https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.2017.0274>, 2017.](https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.2017.0274)

788 Kruse, R. and Stünitz, H.: Dynamic recrystallization processes in plagioclase porphyroclasts,
789 *Journal of Structural Geology*, 23, 1781 – 1802, [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-
790 8141\(01\)00030-X](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8141(01)00030-X), 2001.

- 791 [Mainprice, D., Bachmann, F., Hielscher, R., Schaeben, H.: Descriptive tools for the analysis of](#)
792 [texture projects with large datasets using MTEX: strength, symmetry and components,](#)
793 [Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 409, 251-271,](#)
794 <https://doi.org/10.1144/SP409.8>, 2014
- 795 Mancktelow, N. S., Stöckli, D., Grollmund, B., Müller, W., Fügenschuh, B., Viola, G., Seward,
796 D., and Villa, I. M.: The DAV and Periadriatic fault systems in the Eastern Alps south of
797 the Tauern window, *International Journal of Earth Sciences*, 90, 593–622,
798 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s005310000190>, 2001.
- 799 McLaren, A. and Pryer, L. L.: Microstructural investigation of the interaction and
800 interdependence of cataclastic and plastic mechanisms in Feldspar crystals deformed in the
801 semi-brittle field, *Tectonophysics*, 335, 1–15, [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-1951(01)00042-7)
802 [1951\(01\)00042-7](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-1951(01)00042-7), 2001.
- 803 Mehl, L. and Hirth, G.: Plagioclase preferred orientation in layered mylonites: Evaluation of
804 flow laws for the lower crust, *Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth*, 113, 1–19,
805 <https://doi.org/10.1029/2007JB005075>, 2008.
- 806 Menegon, L., Pennacchioni, G., and Stünitz, H.: Nucleation and growth of myrmekite during
807 ductile shear deformation in metagranites, *Journal of Metamorphic Geology*, 24, 553–568,
808 <https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1314.2006.00654.x>, 2006.
- 809 Menegon, L., Pennacchioni, G., and Spiess, R.: Dissolution-precipitation creep of K-feldspar
810 in mid-crustal granite mylonites, *Journal of Structural Geology*, 30, 565–579,
811 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsg.2008.02.001>, 2008.
- 812 Menegon, L., Stünitz, H., Nasipuri, P., Heilbronner, R., and Svahnberg, H.: Transition from
813 fracturing to viscous flow in granulite facies perthitic feldspar (Lofoten, Norway), *Journal*
814 *of Structural Geology*, 48, 95–112, <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsg.2012.12.004>, 2013.
- 815 Mukai, H., Austrheim, H., Putnis, C. V., and Putnis, A.: Textural Evolution of Plagioclase
816 Feldspar across a Shear Zone: Implications for Deformation Mechanism and Rock Strength,
817 *Journal of Petrology*, 55, 1457–1477, <https://doi.org/10.1093/petrology/egu030>, 2014.
- 818 Müller, W., Mancktelow, N. S., and Meier, M.: Rb-Sr microchrons of synkinematic mica in
819 mylonites: an example from the DAV fault of the Eastern Alps, *Earth and Planetary Science*
820 *Letters*, 180, 385–397, [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-821X\(00\)00167-9](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-821X(00)00167-9), 2000.
- 821 [Nicolas, A., Poirier, J.P., 1976. Crystalline Plasticity and Solid State Flow in Metamorphic](#)
822 [Rocks. Wiley-Interscience, New York, 444 pp.](#)
- 823 Norberg, N., Neusser, G., Wirth, R., and Harlov, D. E.: Microstructural evolution during
824 experimental albitization of K-rich alkali feldspar, *Contributions to Mineralogy and*
825 *Petrology*, 162, 531–546, <https://doi.org/10.1007/s00410-011-0610-y>, 2011.
- 826 Passchier, C. W. and Trouw, R. A.: *Microtectonics*, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin,
827 Heidelberg, <https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-08734-3>, 2005.
- 828 Paterson, M.: Problems in the extrapolation of laboratory rheological data, *Tectonophysics*,
829 133, 33–43, [https://doi.org/10.1016/00401951\(87\)90278-2](https://doi.org/10.1016/00401951(87)90278-2), 1987.
- 830 Paterson, M. and Luan, F. C.: Quartzite rheology under geological conditions, *Geological*
831 *Society, London, Special Publications*, 54, 299 LP – 307,
832 <https://doi.org/10.1144/GSL.SP.1990.054.01.26>, 1990.
- 833 Pfiffner, O. and Ramsay, J.: Constraints on geological strain rates: Arguments from finite strain
834 states of naturally deformed rocks, *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 87, 311–321,
835 <https://doi.org/10.1029/JB087iB01p00311>, 1982.

836 Plümper, O. and Putnis, A.: The Complex Hydrothermal History of Granitic Rocks: Multiple
837 Feldspar Replacement Reactions under Subsolidus Conditions, *Journal of Petrology*, 50,
838 967–987, <https://doi.org/10.1093/petrology/egp028>, 2009.

839 Poirier, J.-P.: Creep of Crystals: High-Temperature Deformation Processes in Metals, Ceramics
840 and Minerals, Cambridge Earth ~~Science Series~~*ScienceSeries*, Cambridge University Press,
841 <https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511564451>, 1985.

842 Prior, D. J. and Wheeler, J.: Feldspar fabrics in a greenschist facies albite-rich mylonite from
843 electron backscatter diffraction, *Tectonophysics*, ———303, 29–49,
844 [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-1951\(98\)00257-1](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-1951(98)00257-1), 1999.

845 Putnis, A.: Mineral Replacement Reactions, *Reviews in Mineralogy and Geochemistry*, 70, 87–
846 124, <https://doi.org/10.2138/rmg.2009.70.3>, 2009.

847 Ratschbacher, L., Merle, O., Davy, P., and Cobbold, P.: Lateral extrusion in the eastern Alps,
848 Part 1: Boundary conditions and experiments scaled for gravity, *Tectonics*, 10, 245–256,
849 <https://doi.org/10.1029/90TC02622>, 1991.

850 Ree, J.-H., Kim, H. S., Han, R., and Jung, H.: Grain-size reduction of feldspars by fracturing
851 and neocrystallization in a low-grade granitic mylonite and its rheological effect,
852 *Tectonophysics*, 407, 227–237, <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tecto.2005.07.010>, 2005.

853 Rosenberg, C. L. and Stünitz, H.: Deformation and recrystallization of plagioclase along a
854 temperature gradient : an example from the Bergell tonalite, *Journal of Structural Geology*,
855 25, 389 – 408, [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8141\(02\)00036-6](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8141(02)00036-6), 2003.

856 Rutter, E. H. and Brodie, K.: Lithosphere rheology – a note of caution, *Journal of Structural*
857 *Geology*, 13, 363–367, [https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8141\(91\)90136-7](https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8141(91)90136-7), 1991.

858 Rybacki, E. and Dresen, G.: Deformation mechanism maps for feldspar rocks, *Tectonophysics*,
859 382, 173–187, <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tecto.2004.01.006>, 2004.

860 Schmid, S. M., Fügenschuh, B., Kissling, E., and Schuster, R.: Tectonic map and overall
861 architecture of the Alpine orogen, *Eclogae Geologicae Helvetiae*, 97, 93–117,
862 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s00015-004-1113-x>, 2004.

863 Schulz, B.: Jungalpidische Gefügeentwicklung entlang der Deferegggen-Antholz-Vals-Linie
864 (Osttirol, Österreich), *Jahrbuch der geologischen Bundesanstalt*, 132, 775–789, 1989.

865 Schulz, B.: Microstructural Evolution of Metapelites from the Austroalpine Basement North of
866 Staller Sattel During Pre-Alpine and Alpine Deformation and Metamorphism (Eastern
867 Tyrol, Austria), *Jahrbuch der geologischen Bundesanstalt*, 137, 197–212, 1994.

868 Schulz, B., Steenken, A., and Siegesmund, S.: Geodynamic evolution of an Alpine terrane - the
869 Austroalpine basement to the south of the Tauern Window as a part of the Adriatic Plate
870 (eastern Alps), *Geological Society London, Special Publications*, 298, 5–44,
871 <https://doi.org/10.1144/SP298.2>, 2008.

872 Schuster, R. and Stüwe, K.: Permian metamorphic event in the Alps, *Geology*, 36, 603,
873 <https://doi.org/10.1130/G24703A.1>, 2008.

874 Simpson, C. and Wintsch, R.: Evidence for deformation-induced K-feldspar replacement by
875 myrmekite, *Journal of Metamorphic Geology*, 7, 261–275, <https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1314.1989.tb00588.x>, 1989.

877 Sinha, S., Alsop, G. I., and Biswal, T.: The evolution and significance of microfracturing within
878 feldspars in low-grade granitic mylonites: A case study from the Eastern Ghats Mobile Belt,
879 India, *Journal of Structural Geology*, 32, 1417–1429,
880 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsg.2010.07.006>, 2010.

881 Steenken, A., Siegesmund, S., and Heinrichs, T.: The emplacement of the Rieserferner Pluton
882 (Eastern Alps, Tyrol): Constraints from field observations, magnetic fabrics and
883 microstructures, *Journal of Structural Geology*, 22, 1855–1873,
884 [https://doi.org/10.1016/S01918141\(00\)00071-7](https://doi.org/10.1016/S01918141(00)00071-7), 2000.

885 Stipp, M., Stünitz, H., Heilbronner, R., and Schmid, S. M.: The eastern Tonale fault zone: a
886 'natural laboratory' for crystal plastic deformation of quartz over a temperature range from
887 250 to 700 °C, *Journal of Structural Geology*, 24, 1861–1884,
888 [https://doi.org/10.1016/S01918141\(02\)00035-4](https://doi.org/10.1016/S01918141(02)00035-4), 2002.

889 Stöckhert, B.: Deformation und retrograde Metamorphose im Altkristallin S' des westlichen
890 Tauerfensters (Südtirol), Ph.D. thesis, Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, 1982.

891 Stöckhert, B.: K-Ar determinations on muscovites and phengites from deformed pegmatites,
892 and the minimum age of Old Alpine deformation in the Austridic basement to the South of
893 the western Tauern Window (Ahrn valley, Southern Tyrol, Eastern Alps), *Neues Jahrbuch
894 für Mineralogie / Abhandlungen*, 150, 103 – 120, 1984.

895 Stöckhert, B.: Das Uttenheimer Pegmatit-Feld (Ostalpines Altkristallin, Südtirol) Genese und
896 alpine Überprägung, *Erlanger geologische Abhandlungen*, 114, 83 – 106, 1987.

897 Stöckhert, B., Brix, M. R., Kleinschrodt, R., Hurford, A. J., and Wirth, R.: Thermochronometry
898 and microstructures of quartz - a comparison with experimental flow laws and predictions
899 on the temperature of the brittle-plastic transition, *Journal of Structural Geology*, 21, 351–
900 369, [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8141\(98\)00114-X](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8141(98)00114-X), 1999.

901 Stünitz, H.: Syndeformational recrystallization - dynamic or compositionally induced?,
902 *Contributions to Mineralogy and Petrology*, 131, 219–236,
903 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s004100050390>, 1998.

904 Stünitz, H. and Fitz Gerald, J.: Deformation of granitoids at low metamorphic grade. II:
905 Granular flow in albite-rich mylonites, ~~Tectono-physics~~[Tectonophysics](https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-1951(93)90164-F), 221, 299 – 324,
906 [https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-1951\(93\)90164-F](https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-1951(93)90164-F), 1993.

907 Stünitz, H., Fitz Gerald, J., and Tullis, J.: Dislocation generation, slip systems, and dynamic
908 recrystallization in experimentally deformed plagioclase single crystals, *Tectonophysics*,
909 372, 215–233, [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-1951\(03\)00241-5](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-1951(03)00241-5), 2003.

910 Thöni, M. and Miller, C.: Garnet Sm-Nd data from the Saualpe and the Koralpe (Eastern Alps,
911 Austria): Chronological and P-T constraints on the thermal and tectonic history, *Journal of
912 Metamorphic Geology*, 14, 453–466, <https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1314.1996.05995.x>,
913 1996.

914 Thöni, M. and Miller, C.: The “Permian event” in the Eastern European Alps: Sm–Nd and P–
915 T data recorded by multi-stage garnet from the Plankogel unit, *Chemical Geology*, 260, 20–
916 36, <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2008.11.017>, 2009.

917 Trepmann, C. A., Stöckhert, B., and Chakraborty, S.: Oligocene trondhjemitic dikes in the
918 Austroalpine basement of the Pfunderer Berge, Südtirol – level of emplacement and
919 metamorphic overprint, *European Journal of Mineralogy*, 16, 641–659,
920 <https://doi.org/10.1127/09351221/2004/0016-0641>, 2004.

921 Tröger, W.: Optische Bestimmung der gesteinsbildenden Minerale. Teil I:
922 Bestimmungstabellen, Schweizerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung, 5. edn.,
923 <https://doi.org/10.1002/crat.2170180211>, 1982.

924 Tsurumi, J., Hosonuma, H., and Kanagawa, K.: Strain localization due to a positive feedback
925 of deformation and myrmekite-forming reaction in granite and aplite mylonites along the

926 Hatagawa Shear Zone of NE Japan, *Journal of Structural Geology*, 25, 557–574,
927 [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8141\(02\)00048-2](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8141(02)00048-2), 2003.

928 Tullis, T. E. and Tullis, J.: *Experimental Rock Deformation Techniques*, pp. 297–324 American
929 Geophysical Union, <https://doi.org/10.1029/GM036p0297>, 1986.

930 Tullis, J.: Deformation of Feldspars, in: *Reviews in Mineralogy: Feldspar Mineralogy*, edited
931 by Ribbe, P. H., chap. 13, pp. 297–323, The Mineralogical Society of America, 1983.

932 Tullis, J. and Yund, R. A.: Dynamic recrystallization of feldspar : A mechanism for ductile
933 shear zone formation, *Geology*, 13, 238–241, [https://doi.org/10.1130/0091-7613\(1985\)13<238:DROFAM>2.0.CO;2](https://doi.org/10.1130/0091-7613(1985)13<238:DROFAM>2.0.CO;2), 1985.

934 Tullis, J. and Yund, R. A.: Transition from cataclastic flow to dislocation creep of feldspar :
935 Mechanisms and microstructures, *Geology*, 15, 606–609, [https://doi.org/10.1130/0091-7613\(1987\)15<606:TFCFTD>2.0.CO;2](https://doi.org/10.1130/0091-7613(1987)15<606:TFCFTD>2.0.CO;2), 1987.

936 Tullis, J. and Yund, R. A.: The Brittle-Ductile Transition In Feldspar Aggregates : An
937 Experimental Study, *International Geophysics*, 51, 89 – 117,
938 [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-6142\(08\)62816-8](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-6142(08)62816-8), 1992.

939 Tullis, J., Yund, R. A., and Farver, J.: Deformation-enhanced fluid distribution in feldspar
940 aggregates and implications for ductile shear zones, *Geology*, 24, 63–66,
941 [https://doi.org/10.1130/0091-7613\(1996\)024<0063:DEFDIF>2.3.CO;2](https://doi.org/10.1130/0091-7613(1996)024<0063:DEFDIF>2.3.CO;2), 1996.

942 Voll, G.: Recrystallization of Quartz, Biotite and Feldspars from Erstfeld to the Leventina
943 Nappe, Swiss Alps, and its Geological Significance, *Schweizerische mineralogische und
944 petrographische Mitteilungen*, 56, 641–647, 1976.

945 [Wassmann, S., Stöckhert, B., 2013. Rheology of the plate interfaced - dissolution precipitation
946 creep in high pressure metamorphic rocks. *Tectonophysics* 608, 1-29.](#)

947 [Wheeler J., Mariani, E., Piazzolo, S.; Prior, D.J., Trimby, P., Drury, M.R., 2009. The weighted
948 Burgers vector: a new quantity for constraining dislocation densities and types using
949 electronbackscatter diffraction on 2D sections through crystalline materials. *Journal of
950 Microscopy*, Vol.233, Pt32009, pp.482–494.](#)

951 White, S.: Tectonic deformation and recrystallisation of Oligoclase, *Contributions to
952 Mineralogy and Petrology*, 50, 287–304, <https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00394854>, 1975.

953 Yund, R. A.: Interdiffusion of NaSi-CaAl in peristerite, *Physics and Chemistry of Minerals*, 13,
954 11–16, <https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00307308>, 1986.

955
956
957